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ADDENDUM No. 1 
 

RFP No. 18-26 
 

WWTP Area Odor Study 
 

Due: July 24, 2018 by 2:00 p.m. (local time) 
 
The following changes, additions, and/or deletions shall be made to the Request for Proposal for 
WWTP Area Odor Study, RFP No. 18-26, on which proposals will be received on/or before the 
date and time listed above. 
 
The information contained herein shall take precedence over the original documents and all 
previous addenda (if any), and is appended thereto. This Addendum includes fifty (50) pages. 
 
The Proposer is to acknowledge receipt of this Addendum No. 1, including all attachments 
in its Proposal by so indicating in the proposal that the addendum has been received. 
Proposals submitted without acknowledgement of receipt of this addendum may be 
considered non-conforming. 
 
The following forms provided within the RFP Document must be included in submitted 
proposal: 
 

 Attachment B - Non-Discrimination Declaration of Compliance 
 Attachment C - Living Wage Declaration of Compliance 
 Attachment D - Vendor Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form 

 
Proposals that fail to provide these completed forms listed above upon proposal opening 
will be rejected as non-responsive and will not be considered for award. 
 
 
 
I. QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS 
 
The following Questions have been received by the City.  Responses are being provided in 
accordance with the terms of the RFP.  Respondents are directed to take note in its review of the 
documents of the following questions and City responses as they affect work or details in other 
areas not specifically referenced here. 
 
1. The City indicated during the Pre-Proposal meeting that four separate seasons of sampling 

are required. Please confirm. 
RESPONSE:  The City is requiring that odor monitoring/sampling be conducted over a 
one-year period to address representative conditions for each of the four seasons. 

 
2. Please indicate the tasks the City will perform and those that the City included in the 

Consultant's Work Plan related to stakeholder involvement. 
RESPONSE:  Ann Arbor will provide Consultant access to WWTP facilities and 
schedule meetings with stakeholders to present and discuss project findings.  The 
Consultant shall be responsible to perform the tasks as outlined in the RFP. 
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3. Can the city provide a process flow diagram for the entire wastewater treatment system which 
shows all steps in the process before bids are due?  
RESPONSE:  We do not have a comprehensive plant process flow diagram.  A 
generalized figure of the plant processes is attached in addition to a plant aerial 
drawing. 

 
4. Can the city provide the 2006 Plant-wide Odor Study for the Ann Arbor Wastewater Treatment 

Plant before bids are due? 
RESPONSE:  The intent of RFP# 18-26 is not to replicate the 2006 Plant-wide Odor 
Study which focused solely on the WWTP property, but to assess the potential sources 
of offsite nuisance odors.  A $50M renovation of the Solids Handling Building 
(Residuals) was completed in 2010 after the 2006 report.  The Residuals project 
included installation of an ammonia scrubber and GAC system as observed during the 
WWTP walk through. The Residuals project also included installation of a passive GAC 
contactor to treat off gas from City interceptors at the intersection of the WWTP access 
road and Old Dixboro Rd.  A copy of the 2006 Plant-Wide Odor Study Report table of 
contents is attached for your reference. 

 
5. What type of “gas detection equipment” is currently used by WWTP staff when investigating 

off-site odor complaints? 
RESPONSE:  the primary device staff use is an Industrial Scientific, Ventis MX-4 gas 
meter.  Staff occasionally investigate odor complaints using an OdaLog Type L2 
Logger 0-200 ppm H2S. 

 
6. How will “Existing Related Documents and Information” that is currently maintained by the 

WWTP be made available for review by the successful bidder?  That is, will data and 
information listed on pages 13 and 14 of the RFP be posted on line for electronic viewing, or 
will these files need to be reviewed in hard-copy format at the WWTP, and then copied by 
successful bidder. 
RESPONSE:  Most of the referenced documents will be available electronically 
although some may only be available as paper documents.  Paper documents may be 
taken offsite and copied by the successful bidder.  

 
7. Will all WWTP operational and performance data be provided to the successful bidder in 

electronic (excel or database) format? 
RESPONSE:  Available, requested operational and performance data will be provided 
to the successful bidder in electronic format. 

 
8. Does the WWTP maintain performance records of system modifications implemented from 

2010 to 2017 related to odor reductions?  That is, are there any general overall odor testing 
results or individual influent/effluent concentrations for installed off-gas treatment units? 
RESPONSE:  No regular testing of the ammonia scrubber and vapor phase GAC 
contactors has been performed since their installation in 2010.  Carbon is changed 
periodically based on headloss and breakthrough.  Carbon was changed out in August 
2015.  A process flow diagram for the Solids Handling Buildings odor control system 
is attached. 
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9. What is the total rate of air draw for odor control system within Solids Handling Building and 
for other covered unit operations? 
RESPONSE:  4,400 CFM.  Plant locations where air is collected for treatment using the 
ammonia scrubber / GAC system include: (1) two blend tanks, (2) gravity thickener 
tank, (3) four sludge holding tanks, (5) centrifuges, (6) screw conveyors, (7) sludge cake 
hoppers, and (8) truck loading area.  Odor control system information from the system 
manufacturers O&M is attached. 

 
10. Can the City provide copies of the past nuisance odor complaints from the surrounding 

communities prior to response to the RFP? 
RESPONSE:  Annual summaries of odor complaints from 2015 – 2018 are attached 
along with an example completed form for a June 25, 2018 complaint.  

 
11. Are the locations and readings of the (recent) gas detection equipment (installations) available 

prior to response to the RFP? 
RESPONSE:  Locations where WWTP staff have investigated odor complaints have not 
been mapped.  However, locations along Arborview Blvd where odor complaints have 
been registered are plotted on the attached map. 

 
12. Is traffic control needed to investigate any of the specific areas identified that may be causing 

the odors? If yes, will it be provided by the City or should it be included in the proposal? 
RESPONSE:  The successful bidder will be solely responsible to provide traffic control 
measures required by law to provide safe access for field activities, if needed.   

 
13. Can the study, plans and specs be made available from the Scio Township oxygen injection 

system program proposed to be implemented (constructed) in August 2018? 
RESPONSE:  A brief description of the history of odor issues with the Liberty Force 
Main was prepared by OHM, Scio Townships Engineer, and is attached.  Also attached 
is a brief description of the oxygen injection system prepared by OHM. 

 
14. Can the City provide a list of processes that are currently odor controlled to date and their 

working status? 
RESPONSE:  See response to question #9 above.  Both the ammonia scrubber and 
GAC contactors are fully operation and in service at all times. 

 
15. Page 7. First sentence.  Should the word “only” be deleted? Are the forms to be included in 

the technical proposal only or both the technical and fee proposals? 
RESPONSE:  The RFP language is correct.  Attachments B, C, and D must be included 
with the Technical Proposal.  If these Attachments are not provided with the Technical 
Proposal, the proposal will be considered non-responsive. 

 
16. Page 11. In section 2. Objective in the third sentence starting with “The objective of this 

study….”  What is the “……future potential study/……….” for?  Isn’t the purpose of this study 
to define the plant’s odor sources and recommend mitigation measures, that would 
presumably be carried into design? 
RESPONSE:  If follow-up work is needed prior to design of odor control mitigation 
equipment a future potential study phase may be needed.  The purpose of the RFP# 18-
26 study is to identify / quantify potential of offsite nuisance odor sources for the 
subject areas.  The WWTP may not be the singular source of odors which is why the 
study is to also look at potential sources of odors outside the plant fence. 
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17. Will City of Ann Arbor staff be responsible for identifying all stakeholders, including concerned 
citizens? 
RESPONSE:  Yes.  The WWTP has been meeting semi-annually for years with the 
Towsley Farms Subdivision stakeholders group.  The group also includes 
representatives from Ann Arbor Township, St. Joe Hospital and Washtenaw 
Community College.  The WWTP will continue to be the point of contact with this group 
during the Odor Study period. 

 
Offerors are responsible for any conclusions that they may draw from the information contained 
in the Addendum. 






























































































